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PREFACE


On the morning after Tim Fischer announced his resignation as Deputy Prime Minister and Leader of the National Party in mid-1999, I received a phone call from his office. The call followed my request for an interview with Fischer when he returned to his farm at Boree Creek. I was the Sunday Telegraph’s political correspondent at the time and just one of many who were keen for the story.


Fischer’s spokesman told me: ‘Tim has agreed to do the interview with you, but there’s one condition—you have to agree to take all his model trains in his office back to the farm.’ Naturally I agreed. The next morning, I drove around to Parliament House’s ministerial wing and filled the boot of my car with boxes of model trains.


Four hours later at Peppers homestead, I sat down with Fischer, to chronicle his story, leading not only to a newspaper feature but also a biography in 2001, The Boy from Boree Creek. The years since have underlined just how much more there was to tell and re-tell, from a wealth of new material and, importantly, a perspective of distance.


Fischer’s life spanned great events and cultural shifts that either affected him directly or in which he played a role. In some important ways, these reflected the journey of the nation itself through this period of change. By the time of his death in August 2019, Fischer was a widely revered national figure.


His widow, Judy Brewer AO, asked only that this biography be an honest and balanced portrayal of his life. In the following pages, I have attempted to fulfil that request and capture the essence of the boy from Boree Creek, in politics and beyond.





PROLOGUE


THE OLD FARMER placed his Akubra on his heart as the vintage rail motor rumbled into view. Alone, standing by his ute, he remembered the man inside the carriage. Tim Fischer was dead. As the train made its way along the track, hundreds more just like him came out to witness the final journey of a man whose eccentricities had become a byword for a lost era of integrity, a Deputy Prime Minister and Australian Ambassador to the Vatican. He was back where it all began, in the wool and wheat flatlands of the Riverina in southern New South Wales.


Tim Fischer knew this rail line well. Just a few weeks earlier he had boarded a train to raise funds for the local cancer centre, walking up and down the carriages talking about trains with the 200 passengers. He was passionate about trains and, despite the cancer ravaging his body, he had summoned his strength for the occasion as the train travelled to Boree Creek. There, the local park was renamed in his honour.


In his youth a rail motor dubbed the Tin Hare used to make the trip to Boree Creek from Lockhart, the town where he was born. Now for the last time, one just like the Tin Hare was taking him to his state funeral in Albury. The three-carriage rail motor had set out from Junee at 6 a.m., stopping at Wagga Wagga to pick up members of the Fischer family. Poignantly, two of the three cars once serviced the Boree Creek line.


At The Rock, a commuter town not far from Wagga Wagga, with a railway station built under the shadow of a high craggy outcrop, the train stopped. Tim Fischer’s simple coffin had been brought to the station and there, amid a crowded platform, solemnly taken aboard. As the rail motor moved off and gathered speed, a 1937 Lockheed Electra plane from the Temora Aviation Museum wheeled overhead, in a final salute.


The people of this region loved this man; he was one of them, born into a farming family at nearby Boree Creek. Once they elected him to the New South Wales parliament, he criss-crossed every road and bush track, shared cups of tea at old town halls and stood outside whatever the weather, to electioneer at myriad village post offices. He always took the back roads. Why? Because they were there. He wanted to know these old dusty tracks that connected families and communities in the isolation of the bush. He knew those emotions well, the rhythms of life that made rural Australia tick.


There were many people like him in these small rural communities. As the train rattled along the track, it passed level crossings where cars had stopped, men on horseback doffed hats and people waved flags and filmed the train with their smart phones. At Gerogery, uniformed schoolchildren stood in a guard of honour either side of the track. At the Ettamogah rail hub, workers with high-vis vests and hard hats stood to attention as the train passed by. His close friend and political ally, the woman he regarded as the best leader the National Party never had, former MHR Kay Hull, shadowed the train’s journey in her car.


He had been guest of honour at debutante balls, taking care to remember the names of the debs on nights that he knew were special to them. He had even taken Judy Brewer to one ball at the start of their relationship on a night that did not end auspiciously. But there had been much of that in Tim Fischer’s life; adversity was to be challenged and turned to advantage. And Judy would become his rock, in the process establishing her own unique character in the nation’s consciousness. She and Tim forged an unbreakable partnership, not least embracing the autism diagnosis of their first son Harrison. Through that challenge, Fischer would learn much about himself and just why he was the way he was.


To be a public figure meant being trusted, and Fischer had worked to establish a presence as someone the people of the Riverina could trust. His political opponents had tried to disparage him as ‘Two Minute Tim’, but he gladly accepted the moniker and turned it to advantage. Fischer was like that, full of quirks and an innate sense of how to keep at the forefront of local public awareness. Phoning media in country towns to give reporters a ‘scoopette’, as he called the short news stories he would dictate to them, was second nature to him. Once, he had stopped at Collingullie, another village not far from The Rock and stepped into a phone box to give a story to the Daily Advertiser in Wagga Wagga. Finished, he tried to leave, only to be bailed up by a cattle dog. Undeterred, he phoned back with a new story: he was trapped in a phone booth. The incident became a national story.


To cement his legacy in the Riverina and surrounding districts, Fischer had planned something unique: arranging a $1 million bequest from his will for small community groups. Among them would be the Albury Wodonga Cancer Centre, a machinery shed at Jindera, and various museums at Lockhart, Urana, Junee and Corowa.


Fischer had planned this last trip on Rail Motor No. 24 with rail enthusiasts from the Lachlan Valley Railway Society six months earlier. He was a trainspotter who could instantly recognise the sound of a 62 Class Garratt loco from an old recording and jawbone about gauges and bogies and the height of tunnels and bridges. He loved the intricacies of rail; the clicketyclack of a train’s progress was soothing and had an emotional, almost trance-like hold on him. Sometimes trains could be a way to break the ice in meeting someone new, but occasionally this had backfired. There was the time when he asked the Deputy President of South Africa, Thabo Mbeki, when was the last time he had been to Pretoria Railway Station. Fischer had just been to the station to inspect the famous Blue Train. Mbeki ‘replied with an evil half smile that I should not ask this question as it was twenty years ago and that he was trying to blow the place up’.


From the train to the music and place of final farewell, Fischer had organised the details of his funeral, calling it ‘Project Eventual Exit’. It would be an event for the public and not a religious service at a church; instead, it would be held at the Albury Entertainment Centre. He was methodical and knew that his decade-long battle with cancer could not be beaten. This was the price he paid fighting on the battlefields of Vietnam before giving up the life of a farmer for politics and public service. His war medals lay on the flag-draped coffin, along with his familiar Akubra cattleman’s hat. When he died early on the morning of 22 August 2019, there was a nationwide outpouring of grief for this man who had transcended politics to become a much-loved national figure.


This grief extended to the tiny Himalayan nation of Bhutan, a country with which Fischer had formed a close attachment over many years. His favourite spot at Judy’s farm at Mudgegonga where they had lived for the previous two decades was on the verandah, looking out over the valley to the brooding ranges that hid ancient caves. The Indigenous rock art on the walls of these caves fascinated Fischer. Here, he would spend time, wondering and perhaps reflecting on his heavy-handed involvement in an area of policy that earned him much criticism. There was also a dark hue about the hills that reminded him of Bhutan. As the leukaemia became acute, he had negotiated with his doctors to make one final journey there, his eleventh trip, accompanied by his younger son Dominic. Fischer wanted to say goodbye to Bhutan and his close friends there but also, importantly, to introduce Dominic to the country, the people and the Fourth King. The trip enabled Dom, as an adult, to witness for the first time his father’s diplomatic skills on display. In a traditional exchange of gifts, he presented the Fourth King with a klaxon bike horn. The most unusual gift was gleefully received, as the King had recently taken up bike riding. The week-long visit was made all the more enjoyable by Fischer having the chance to share red rice and wheat beers with Dom at local breweries.


The high point was a final audience with the Fourth King, after which Fischer wrote a card to him, saying: ‘You are my greatest teacher.’ Only half in jest, Fischer mused that in his next life he would like to be reincarnated as a Bhutanese and be Minister of Transport—that would be his perfect job. Concerned for his failing health, the Royal Grandmother began sending him herbal medicines. This was a cherished friendship. The day after Fischer died, the king declared a day of prayer in Bhutan, lit candles around a photo of Fischer and, in full royal garb, lay prostrate in front of the photo. To underline the nation’s grief, he sent a Bhutanese delegation to Albury with wreaths for Judy.


Two hours after leaving The Rock, the rail motor drew into the grand Italianate Albury railway station. The symbolism was fitting, as the terminus’s history was important to Fischer. Among others, he once noted that Dame Nellie Melba passed through Albury ‘both vertical and horizontal as her funeral train came back from Melbourne’. Then there were national and world figures who stopped at the station, among them cricketer Don Bradman, politicians Edmund Barton, Ben Chifley, Billy Hughes, Dame Enid Lyons and Robert Menzies. Then there had been soldiers General Douglas MacArthur and General John Monash and, perhaps Fischer’s favourite, the writer Mark Twain. Now, he was in good company.


In bright sunshine on a chilly winter morning, hundreds of people lined the platform as the train ground to a halt. His coffin was carried off, followed by Judy, Dominic, his siblings and extended family members. A four-man army catafalque party stood guard as a short service began in recognition of his Vietnam service. A bugler stood alongside the coffin, and the Last Post rang out a mournful, reflective note, yet somehow uplifting, as if to underline the reality of duty done.


He had been given a rare standing ovation in the House of Representatives when, at the height of his political career twenty years earlier, he quit to go back to Judy and their two boys on the farm. Behind that decision were factors that were both personal and political. Now the bells at St Matthew’s Church, in the centre of Albury, tolled seventy-three times as his coffin waited to be taken to the Albury Entertainment Centre for the state funeral service. Inside the cavernous hall not a seat was left empty, while outside hundreds more people spilled onto the lawns. Just as he wished, the service was to be non-denominational. He was a Catholic who had embraced the basic tenets of Buddhism: from the Jesuits, he had learned to give back to the community; from Buddhism, he had learned to walk gently in the world.


What Fischer achieved was not without controversy, and there were some outcomes, especially in Indigenous affairs, that he would forever regret. But politics would not be all that he championed. There was the ambassadorship to the Vatican, influential appointments in the private sector, and books on trains and Sir John Monash. Crucial to all this was the role of Judy and her emergence as an autism public advocacy figure and so often by his side. Now an old rail motor had finished its part in the final journey of a life that had taken many twists and turns.
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THE LIGHT ON THE TRACKS


BABY TIM WAS slow to walk. Impatience led his sister Carol and brother Tony to hoist him off the end of the verandah of the rambling weatherboard homestead ‘because we figured it was time he learned’, Carol remembered. Learn Tim did, soon taking off for long walks by himself around the family farm, often meandering among its pepper trees and beyond, a stick in hand. Appropriately, the farm at Boree Creek was named Peppers; and the stick became a lifelong habit when he walked.


Timothy Andrew Fischer was the fourth child of sheepfarmers Ralph and Barbara Fischer after their marriage in 1939. Their first child, Tony, was born in 1940. In 1942 their second son, William, died, just three months old, from meningitis. The following year, Barbara gave birth to their first daughter, Carol. With the war over, the Fischers prepared for the next addition to their young family when Ralph drove Barbara 25 kilometres to Lockhart Hospital for her confinement. When baby Tim was born on 3 May 1946, he joined the new generation of post-war Baby Boomers.


The Fischers were to have one more child, Vicki, in 1948, the year Ralph sold his stock and station agency to concentrate on farming Peppers full-time—a sign of modest prosperity. The wool boom sparked by the Korean War in the early 1950s consolidated the family’s growing financial security. Despite this, there were hardships to be endured, living in rural Australia in the immediate post-war years. Permanent water came to Boree Creek around the time Tim was born, and although the Fischers had a 32-volt diesel home generator, it was to be another decade before grid electricity was connected. Until then, the family made do with gas lamps and kerosene refrigerators. The arrival of grid electricity was a red-letter day. That advance coincided with an automatic phone service that replaced the operator-connected manual telephone exchange.


Boree Creek is about an hour’s drive west of Wagga Wagga and thirty minutes from Narrandera. The name ‘Boree Creek’ came from the boree trees (Weeping Myall) growing in the area. Squatters moved into the district around the 1860s, and subdivision of the big stations followed. In the nineteenth century the country was heavily timbered, and Chinese workers were employed to ringbark trees for open farming. The dawn of the twentieth century saw more land made available for closer settlement. In 1912, two years after the village of Boree Creek was proclaimed, the first school opened.


From the earliest days of European settlement, the area’s farmers learned to deal with challenges from floods and droughts to mice plagues and bushfires. The isolation and remoteness from services were a constant challenge. The local landscape is flat and unforgiving. Water has always been scarce and droughts a seasonal lottery as farmers went about growing wool and wheat and diversifying to other grains such as canola, lupins and peas.


Ralph and Barbara Fischer were from once wealthy Melbourne families whose businesses had collapsed with the onset of the Great Depression in the late 1920s. The Van Cooths were Dutch. Around the turn of the century Barbara’s father Josephus had sailed to Australia, where he married Marie Mason, daughter of Francis Conway Mason (1843–1915), a well-known political figure at the time. A Catholic born in Ireland, he was a Victorian MLA from 1871 to 1902 and Speaker between 1897 and 1902, also presiding over the Federal Convention of 1897–98 and attending the opening of the first Federal Parliament in Melbourne in May 1901.


Mason was married to Henrietta Dove, whose lineage went back to Snowden Dunhill, a petty thief and highwayman in Yorkshire, who in 1823 had been sentenced to seven years transportation to Van Diemen’s Land. His freedom was short-lived when he was convicted of receiving money and a stolen greatcoat and was sentenced to another fourteen years imprisonment at Port Arthur.


Snowden Dunhill was not the only member of the family with a predilection for criminal activity. His wife Sarah was sentenced to seven years transportation to Sydney in 1819 for stealing two geese. And it did not end there. Snowden and Sarah’s daughter, Rosanna Dunhill, was convicted of theft in 1828 and transported to Van Diemen’s Land. A son, William, was convicted of attempted theft in 1818 and sentenced to fourteen years transportation to Sydney. Yet another sibling, George, was convicted of theft in 1819 and transported to Van Diemen’s Land. George, who was Tim Fischer’s great-uncle four times removed, was freed in 1827 but, after stealing 200 sheep, was arrested and tried in the Hobart Supreme Court. He was sentenced to death and hanged the same year, aged just 26.


In 1838 Sarah married William Dove, who himself had been transported after being convicted of a property crime. It was their daughter, Henrietta, whom Francis Mason married in Melbourne in 1868. Here, the line of thievery gave way to more worthy pursuits. Mason had arrived in Victoria in 1863 and, with an eye on politics, won the Gippsland South electorate in 1871. Over the next three decades he lost and again won his seat, building a reputation for an enormous capacity to work hard in campaigns. At one election Mason held his seat by a single vote.


Venal in a genial way, handsome and charming, Mason was subject to talk about his private life and his failure to pay gambling debts. The rumours were fuelled by an incident just before he became Speaker. Parliament’s ceremonial mace went missing and was later sighted in an East Melbourne brothel. Like his great-grandson Tim Fischer, Francis Mason was noted for his knowledge of parliamentary procedure. He also had a fascination for rail, doing everything in his power to have the railway in South Gippsland extended. In fact, he managed to have it routed beside his property.


Tim Fischer’s grandfather on his father’s side, Frederich Wilhelm Fischer, was born in Germany in 1884, moving to Melbourne in the early 1900s. It was here he met and married Ruby Commans, the daughter of a French seaman, Captain Jules Commans, a pilot and harbourmaster for Port Phillip Bay. Three children were born before (Julius) Ralph in 1913, the same year as Barbara Van Cooth. Like thousands of German Australians, Ralph’s father Frederich experienced discrimination during the Great War. His activities were restricted and his assets frozen. In 1919 he went back to Germany to see what was left. Finding nothing, Frederich soon returned. The family ran a fellmongery business, which prospered after the war.


Born into a Protestant family, Ralph and his brother Fred went to Melbourne Grammar School. But after seven years of elite education and ‘generally high social living and entertaining, the inevitable happened’, Ralph noted, ‘the money ran out’. The depression forced them to move out of Melbourne to Dandenong, where the family leased a house and 600 acres. Ralph had already known hardship; because of polio, he had had to wear leg iron splints. The treatment worked, and he ‘came good, mostly’, enough to follow Fred and go jackerooing.


In 1936, the brothers bought the stock and station agency in Boree Creek for a thousand pounds. They achieved this by pooling their savings and borrowing 500 pounds from grandfather Jules Commans. Ralph was 23 years old at the time; he was astute and prepared to work hard to build the business that operated as Fischer Brothers. As understood by the family, Ralph had met Barbara in Melbourne some years earlier, when he lived at St Kilda and the Van Cooths at East Malvern. Relatives say the families mixed in similar circles and were acquainted with each other. Barbara studied nursing at the Alfred Hospital between 1931 and 1935, leading to employment as a private nurse for elderly members of the Wilson and Moffat families at Boree Creek.


Ralph and Barbara married at St Patrick’s Cathedral in Melbourne. Both were aged 26, but as it was a so-called mixed marriage (between a Protestant and a Catholic) the ceremony took place in the sacristy. The newlyweds returned to Boree Creek and moved into a cottage opposite the school. Afflicted with a withered leg from his childhood polio, Ralph was unable to join the armed forces in World War II. Instead, he ran the stock and station agency and bought Peppers, a 485-hectare property, on the Sandigo Road in 1944.


From their parents the children learned solid but uncomplicated rural values. As Fischer recalled in later life, ‘It was a very warm and allembracing family life. It involved having to pull your weight and certainly make a contribution and work harder.’ Ralph was ambivalent in his attitude towards religion, but Barbara was a devout Catholic and would take the four children to church on Sunday. From her, they learned the importance of a simple Christian life. Doug Belbin, a neighbouring farmer, knew Ralph and Barbara well, describing them as good citizens and straight, trustworthy people. ‘Ralph was a worker.’ The message from Ralph was clear: if a job was worth doing, it was worth doing well. To Fischer, the proverb ‘was a great mantra to grow up with’.


At shearing time, Fischer learned to press wool into heavy bales, ‘an art form requiring much stomping on the wool and use of pins and staples all in a set order. Get it wrong and you suddenly had an underweight soft bale that had to be redone, generally on your break time with Dad yelling at me.’ After the shearing was done, Fischer recalled that the wool bales stacked on a truck, free of Bathurst burs and other noxious weeds, always looked impressive as they headed off the farm. ‘Our wool was always clean but sometimes in dry years impacted by a red dust hue. Dad was very proud of his ongoing campaign in all four seasons to combat weeds, often allocating a hoe to Tony, Carol, Vicki or me. Then we were allocated a paddock to walk off and cut out, say, Saffron Thistles. Blazing sun conditions were no excuse and the job was repetitive, but over the years the soils improved in nutrition and the hungrier-type weeds died out naturally.’


One of Fischer’s closest friends, Hugh McKenzie, spent several school holidays at Peppers and recalled the Fischers as a close family. He remembered Barbara as a ‘very powerful lady. She spoke her mind and brooked no nonsense.’ He saw her as more direct and intuitive than her husband. ‘Ralph was just as aware but lower key, more thoughtful.’ Hugh saw Tim as a mix of both. ‘You knew where you stood with him—very direct, like his mother. But, like his father, he was also thoughtful about things before he arrived at a decision.’


For a small country town, Boree Creek during the early post-war years was a vibrant place. Ralph Fischer recalled ‘a row of cars down each side of the Boree main street, with wives in the two stores and husbands in the pub and kids in the Greeks’ café, where there was a game of poker in the back room’. Tim was always keen to go to town with his father on Monday nights to pick up the Sunday papers that were delivered on the train, the Tin Hare. The sight mesmerised him. ‘The great searchlight would come round the corner and the rails would start to hum and the train would arrive and there’d be the bustle of unloading and welcomes and parcel freight. Three minutes later, beep-beep, and away it would go down the line.’ A love of trains began.


The young Tim began his schooling at Boree Creek Public School in 1952, spending the next six years there. Vicki joined him in the school’s lower division in 1954. Together, they rode their bikes to and from school on the three-kilometre gravel road to their home. It was a carefree life with a property to roam and explore. During these school years Fischer saw himself as a ‘goodie goodie’; he was already learning to keep a low profile to keep out of trouble. One of his schoolmates, Rafe Strong, recalled that the young Tim already knew what he wanted to do in life. ‘He was very studious, we thought of him as a professor. He had a very definite life path to follow. He always wanted to be a politician.’
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ALONE


THE FISCHERS DID well out of the wool boom of the early 1950s, prompting Ralph and Barbara to come to a crucial decision on the family’s future: the children would be sent to boarding school in Melbourne. Barbara’s influence determined that they would go to Catholic schools for their education: the Jesuit-run Xavier College for Tony and Tim and, as she had done herself, Sacré Coeur for Carol and Vicki.


In the summer of 1958 Fischer boarded a train at Albury that would take him on a journey of discovery, one marked by miserable loneliness and homesickness, yet it was to set the course of his life. After six carefree years at Boree Creek Public School, he followed older brother Tony to Xavier. He was 12 years old when his father drove him to Albury to catch the train to Melbourne. Fischer learned to dread the four-and-a-half-hour journey to Spencer Street Station. Pranks on the train were a way to relieve boredom for the boys heading back to school—testing the mettle of those singled out. One such lark involved a boy’s cap being flung out the window and landing on fence post beside the line during a signals hold-up. It was agony for the owner of the cap, who had to work out quickly whether there was time to retrieve it before the signals changed or to just leave it and suffer the consequences at school. Tim remembered that the whole train urged the boy on, and finally he jumped out of the carriage and retrieved the cap in the nick of time.


The trip seemed to get longer and lonelier every year, especially going back to school at the start of the long winter term when he would daydream about the forthcoming holiday with the family at Narrabeen in the summer break. For seventeen consecutive years, Ralph and Barbara drove to Sydney in the second and third weeks of January. Carol recalled: ‘There was stuff tied on roof racks and packed on the floor. With four kids there was not much room. The lucky one sat in the middle in the front.’ The family always rented the same house in Albert Street, Narrabeen. To the young Tim, the experience of living just a house or two from the beach was unforgettable and prompted his love of the surf. ‘In the course of a fortnight we learnt much about city life as we grew up.’ One trip stayed with him: to the New South Wales parliament. With the house in recess, Fischer went on a guided tour. He would remember the green benches of the Legislative Assembly.


Homesickness in Melbourne set in virtually from the start of his boarding years at Burke Hall preparatory school in 1958 and 1959. ‘I found it a very long way from home. I was very homesick for the first year, especially. I used to particularly hate going back to school for the second term, which was a thirteen- or fourteen-week grind.’ He remembered counting the weeks, especially during the Melbourne winter. ‘If you weren’t good at team sports, weekends were horror stretches. You could ring, you could write, but you were very pleased to go home for school holidays.’


Back on the farm, the young Fischer began putting out his own school holiday newspapers for the family, The Peppers Review and The Boree Blast-Off—‘written just in my own hand, laid out like a newspaper with headlines and articles.’ The eight pages of the June 1959 edition of The Boree Blast-Off mirrored the structure of published newspapers with announcements of weddings and deaths, sport and local gossip, and even cartoons. There was an account of the discovery of a photo of the beheading of an Australian POW by a Japanese officer in World War II, accompanied by Fischer’s drawing of the execution. On the front page he splashed with a story headed, ‘Rocket to The Moon’. In this he imagined the first rocket landing on the Moon and how it had sent signals back to Earth that ‘there are hairy people like apes and even uglier than we are’ on the planet. The Cold War’s ‘space race’ between the Soviet Union and America had fascinated Fischer since the night in October 1957 when he witnessed the world’s first spacecraft, Sputnik 1, ‘clear as a large planet’ in the night sky over Peppers. Two years later, a Russian attempt to send a satellite to the Moon coincided with his newspaper story. At thirteen, Fischer’s curiosity about the world was blossoming.


Relatives from Melbourne and Sydney were frequent visitors to the farm, and Tony Fischer recalled his younger brother entertaining them on the piano or putting on a play with his sisters. ‘He was not shy to play in front of his aunts, with no fear of confronting groups of people.’ As Carol recalled, ‘Tim was the one they always liked because he would sit around and talk to them and be nice to them whereas we’d be out writing in the dust on the car and getting into terrible strife. But Tim always knew how to meet people, have a rapport with people and seemed to do it easily. He knew how to make them be at ease and feel special. He may have been busy thinking about what he wanted to do next, but he didn’t let you know it. He was always very good at that.’


Eventually the holidays would end, and it came time to head reluctantly back to Melbourne on the train. ‘For many years until the last year, 1963, I had to drag myself psychologically and physically to get back to school. But you had no choice.’ At school he encountered a ‘dog eat dog’ atmosphere among the boarders, poor mentoring and long periods of study. It was not a happy time, although academically he went reasonably well. In 1960 Fischer went to Xavier. Like Burke Hall, Xavier was not coeducational. Situated on a hill at Kew with expansive views overlooking Melbourne to Port Phillip Bay, the Jesuit college opened in 1878 and became part of the Victorian Public Schools system in 1900. The Jesuits’ maxim is ‘Give me a child for the first seven years and you may do what you like with him afterwards’. They were to have Tim Fischer for six of the most formative years of his life.


Gerard Henderson, director of the Sydney Institute, was in the same year as Fischer at Xavier. He recalled that despite the Jesuits’ reputation of being well educated and intellectual, Xavier was a ‘Boys’ Own school’. The school heroes were invariably those who excelled at cricket, swimming or rowing in summer and autumn, Australian Rules in winter and athletics in spring. Those who continued their sporting success beyond matriculation continued to be admired. By then they were joined by those who had succeeded at the professions: primarily medicine and law. In the Old Xavierians’ snobbery ranking, surgeons came first followed by barristers. Rural landowners were also highly respected.


According to Henderson, in the 1950s and ’60s Xavier had little interest in poets, historians, scientists or politicians, and he could recall no mention being made of T.J. Ryan, who was Labor Premier of Queensland (1915–19) and won the federal seat of West Sydney in 1919. Soon afterwards, he became Labor’s deputy leader but died in 1921 at age 45. ‘Ryan was much admired by Archbishop Daniel Mannix but scarcely remembered at Xavier despite the fact that he had attended the school briefly on a scholarship before moving to South Melbourne College,’ Henderson noted.


To his classmates, Fischer was quiet, shy and reserved. Gangly and somewhat uncoordinated, he did not excel at sports. Nonetheless, he showed his teachers that he wanted to get involved by becoming a goal umpire. He was an average rower and tennis player, where his doggedness in chasing the ball would overcome a lack of shot-making skill. In later years political colleagues would rate him a great competitor, noting his ability to scramble the ball back over the net. ‘He didn’t like to lose,’ said former National Party Senator David Brownhill, who often partnered Fischer in Parliament House tennis matches.


He was also a stutterer; serious structural problems with his teeth made it difficult for him to speak clearly. Correctional orthodontic work and bands on his teeth were required from a Collins Street specialist to overcome a badly undershot bottom jaw and to ease pressure on his wisdom teeth. Even years later the letters ‘th’ remained problematic. Often the word ‘with’ came out as ‘wiff ’ or ‘wiv’ and ‘think’ emerged as ‘fink’. Fischer would recall how he was taunted by other students because of the speech impediment: ‘I was always in trouble with “this”, “that” and “therefore”. It used to be, when I was young, a great deal worse.’ For the rest of his life, it would remain to a degree.


Life in the dormitories was not easy for sensitive bush boys like Fischer, and college was a miserable time. Gangs were formed among the boarders and the day boys, between groups of boarders and between ‘the bullies and the rest’. The bullying was not so much physical, he remembered, ‘but more psychological with subtle and insidious rubbishing and character denigration which magnified any idiosyncratic traits’. With his different speech and general physical awkwardness, he always felt a target. In later years Fischer recalled that there was ‘a degree of bastardry, a degree of sinister criticism and rubbishing and running down of students who did not fit the sporting mould’. In the ‘spartan environment’ of Xavier, if you were not ‘the mega sports person type’, you ‘ran the gauntlet and got belted around the ears’. Importantly, in a moment of self-reflection, he added that this environment affected those ‘who may have been slightly on the spectrum, who were in some ways different’.


Gerard Henderson recalled it differently: ‘There was not a lot of bullying at that school. Tim was regarded as being a bit esoteric, but he was not the softest person around, or indeed a shrinking violet either. While he had a stutter, he was quite able to get his views across. I don’t recall him being pushed around, but I do recall him pushing some others around in a verbal sense.’ Nonetheless, the experience confirmed the teenaged Fischer as a loner. He was also someone with an inner strength who was comfortable with his own company and did not need the approbation of others. But these qualities would soon be put to the test.





3


FINDING HIS VOICE


AS THE COLD War deepened in the early 1960s, the teenaged Fischer’s interest in politics began to stir. The Russians had erected the Berlin Wall, the Profumo Affair had thrown British politics into turmoil and the United States had a dashing young president. Tim began to read Time magazine in the school library to learn about international affairs and to read the local press about events in Australian politics—not least the anticommunist convulsion in the Australian Labor Party (ALP) and the 1955 Split that led to the formation of the Democratic Labour Party (DLP).


Fischer joined Gerard Henderson on the staff of the school newspaper, Sursum Corda (Latin for ‘Lift up your hearts’), edited by Henderson’s brother Paul. Both Gerard and Tim were charged with current affairs coverage. At the end of the year, Paul Henderson thanked them both for their diligent contributions. What he did not say was that the 17-year-old Tim was anything but conservative in some of his articles. One caused a particular stir. Headed ‘Australian internal politics’, he questioned the future of the DLP and was far from complimentary about its spoiling tactics.


He also showed that he was somewhat sympathetic to Labor, predicting that the DLP would ‘shrink into oblivion’ if it did not negotiate a return to the ALP. Given the conservative Catholic environment he was steeped in at Xavier, it was a bold move for Fischer to contend that the force ‘masterminding’ the DLP was the strongly anti-communist and strongly Catholic National Civic Council (NCC), run by B.A. Santamaria. In government more than forty years later, Fischer might have smiled indulgently at the purity of political vision of his 17-year-old self:




The lack of a strong, united Opposition is largely why Menzies has held such a long period of office. This is not conducive to proper democracy, for long terms in office do not keep the Government on its toes. What is needed is an Opposition that will be able and capable of forming a Government (free from Communism). This can be achieved only by the departure of the Democratic Labour Party, as a separate entity, from Australian politics.





As Labor would have to gain office sooner or later, he suggested that the DLP could now offer itself and its votes to the ALP, which it could rejoin on certain reasonable conditions that would not be hard for both parties to accept. ‘The tragedy of this split has been the upsetting of the normal workings of Democracy and the barring from office of some of Australia’s most talented men.’ Among these, he said, were future prime minister Gough Whitlam, his future treasurer Frank Crean and prominent DLP politicians such as Frank McManus, Stan Keon and Robert Joshua. Fischer’s sharp observation about Santamaria raised eyebrows: ‘We could also include the dynamic Mr B.A. Santamaria, who, without his extremist aspects, is a man possessing Prime Ministership qualities.’


His advice to the DLP was that extreme care must be taken in any reunion of the two parties, with negotiations and offers conducted in secret on a secondary level between McManus and Whitlam. He went so far as to suggest that the DLP could afford to ‘compromise a little on Left Wing aspects of the ALP’ because, if the DLP were reunited with the ALP, there would be a natural move to the Right. Such a reunion would then ensure a Labor victory at the next election in 1963. In frustration, Fischer berated the DLP for persisting with their attacks on the ALP:




The trouble is the DLP has become so partisan that it cannot see good in anything the ALP does. This attitude would have to cease, after all, they are both Labor Parties intent on advancing the cause of the small man. Therefore the DLP can sink into oblivion or it can attempt to bargain while it has some bargaining power. Either way, the name ‘Democratic Labour Party’ would cease to exist.





Fischer’s observations were prescient, as the DLP would be wiped out federally at the 1974 election. As it was, his article stirred a controversy at Xavier. Some among the staff were mildly scandalised, and it gave rich fodder for fellow students to attack his moderate Left-sounding views. They did not hold back. One such letter declared he was either misinformed or naïve:




Throughout this year I have watched his articles closely and have come to the conclusion that he is one of two things: (a) a great friend of Mr Calwell, (b) a Communist. We must rule out (b) because the local authorities, being very broad-minded, made him a Prefect. This leaves the logical conclusion that he is bent upon bringing a bungling, slowwitted career politician (i.e. one who would never be Prime Minister in any Government) to the most exalted position in Australian politics. Mr Fischer seems to believe that the Labor Party will gain office whatever happens. Surely any sane person could see that the Labor Party is split into two groups—one Communistic, the other not.





Another student slated the article as biased nonsense, accusing Fischer of taking his ‘scarcely disguised views’ from such magazines as Time, Newsweek, the Bulletin or Nation. ‘My once high opinion of Mr Fischer as an intelligent commentator on national politics and international affairs has received one serious blow after another until now. I do not think he has the capacity for original thought, intelligent views and trenchant commentary he was once credited with.’


The harshest rejoinder came from Gerard Henderson, who was clearly sympathetic to the DLP. ‘I had always thought that there were two sides to an argument, but after reading Mr Fischer’s latest article one feels that this is no longer so and that by careful manipulation, falsification of facts and muddled thought it is possible to present a thoroughly one-sided account.’ Henderson then proceeded to rebut the Fischer article, point by point. Their future roles were emerging: one the player prepared to stir and be controversial, the other the critic and commentator.


Henderson roundly disputed Fischer’s suggestion that the DLP would ‘shrink into oblivion’. He rejected Fischer’s suggestion that the DLP should take the lead in reconciliation with Labor, asserting that it should instead be the reverse. Fischer also seemed to have confused the DLP and Santamaria’s National Civic Council in his assessment that, because the two groups held similar beliefs, they were ‘one and the same’. Santamaria did not, of course, control the DLP.


Henderson then concluded with a stinging observation: ‘Mr Fischer states that the DLP is a failure … Sometimes one wonders just who is the failure.’ An ability to shrug off such barbs emerged early. In Fischer’s view, they said more about the perpetrator. Fischer acknowledged he ‘went out on one extremis’ with the article. ‘I had quite a clash or two, mainly in respect of the DLP and Santamaria who was held in great renown by the Melbourne church establishment at the time.’ He had challenged ‘the sacred cow fabric of elements of Xavier’.


While the Jesuit priests at Xavier showed little public interest in politics, members of the lay staff were keenly involved in political debate outside the school, especially through the newspaper, the Catholic Worker. Among them was James Griffin, later professor at the Australian National University. Griffin, who taught Fischer British History for his matriculation year at Xavier in 1963, recalled tension between these teachers and Paul and Gerard Henderson. He said the Hendersons were ‘unnecessarily suspicious of people who were known to be connected to the Catholic Worker, which had printed some strong things about Santamaria and had felt the church was being compromised by him’.


Griffin recalled Archbishop Daniel Mannix attending speech days at Xavier. Mannix was overtly political—issuing, for example, a statement before the 1958 federal election that ‘every Communist and every Communist sympathiser in Australia wants a victory for the Evatt (ALP) party’. But he was dissatisfied with the number of Xavier old boys who entered politics and would make this clear at speech days. According to Griffin, Mannix would often say on these days, ‘Well, these results and what you have achieved are very, very good, but where are the Xavier boys in politics? We don’t seem to have many of them in the political sphere.’ But, Griffin said, sectarianism was so rife in the conservative parties that Catholics were not very acceptable. ‘They were very acceptable in the Labor Party, but the Xavier chaps were, for class and economic reasons, not very well disposed towards the Labor Party.’


One of Fischer’s teachers in 1961–62, Brian Buckley, remembered detecting an ‘underlying intelligence and decency’ but a student with an articulation problem. The ideas were there but he had difficulty in getting them out; his words sometimes tumbling out in odd sentences. Buckley believed that Fischer had ability and that it was worth drawing it out. Occasionally, he would invite Fischer home at weekends, where they would discuss politics. He believed that Fischer’s support for the ALP grew out of Catholic social justice and the view that everybody in society deserved a fair slice of the economic cake. What was clearly emerging from Fischer’s debating and his writing was a capacity to arrive at a controversial position and rise above any disparagement.


While Fischer’s support for the ALP was not long lasting, his commitment to social justice remained and strengthened. Reflecting later, he believed that the Jesuits had a strong influence on his thinking. This belief would only grow over time as he began to accept that the privilege he enjoyed in life needed to be repaid somehow and that no one should ever rest on their laurels. And if that meant often following esoteric lines of thought then so be it.
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A STUDIOUS ENTHUSIAST


STUDYING FOR HIS matriculation exam in 1963, Fischer found life at Xavier much happier. He thought of himself as being on top of the work and was enjoying his appointment as a prefect—a reward, his teachers say, for his dependability and trustworthiness. ‘I nearly fell over backwards,’ Fischer told the author. ‘There was some surprise at the appointment, some muffled jocular criticism.’ Nonetheless, he saw it as a challenge. ‘It didn’t seem to have any adverse effect on my academic endeavours. You were at the top of the tree doing matriculation and even more so as a prefect.’


His appointment as a prefect was to be his first taste of the responsibility of leadership. ‘You began to learn one hundred and one ways that you provide fair and reasonable leadership, leadership which is both carrot and stick,’ he noted later. One of Xavier’s boarders, Pete Hennessy, remembered Fischer as ‘one of the “good” prefects—level-headed, fair, genuine, caring and friendly’.


Hugh McKenzie, Tim’s closest friend at Xavier, was a fellow prefect. He remembered an incident as the 1963 school year ended. In a mood for horse play, befitting the end of their schooling, a prefect set fire to the rubbish bin in the prefects’ room. The flames took off vigorously, licking an electrical switch on the wall, which began to melt. Outside, a teacher, Father James Hawkins, saw what was happening, grabbed a hose and sprayed water on the fire through the window. Knowing that water and electricity can be a lethal mix, Fischer saw the imminent danger and, without hesitation, knocked Hawkins to the ground, likely saving his life.


In Fischer’s last year of school, a set text he had laboriously copied into his English Expression workbook reveals a commonly held but unsophisticated view of Australia that was part of the educational curriculum of the era:




Of all countries, the primitive areas of Australia are the safest for mankind, natural hazards are at a minimum. There are no long, cold periods, merely continuous sunshine. There are the occasional tropical downpours to supply water but no cyclones or tornados … The natives are not cannibals and if friendly to them they will be friendly to you. The area is free of earthquakes and volcanos that could harm anybody.





In a practice matriculation essay on the possibility of a world with open frontiers and open minds, his growing interest in a world beyond Australia emerged. He believed communism would need to be swept out of existence while the ‘jealousies and selfishness’ of individual nations would also have to be overcome, as such attitudes inevitably resulted in trade restrictions. ‘This is being attempted by the Common Market now, but there is a long way to go before the world is one Common Market.’ He believed prospects would be better in the twenty-first century. His essay showed a developing interest in international affairs and trade, no doubt spurred by his current affairs magazine reading. At the same time, in the reading that was set as part of the curriculum, he was subjected to simplistic teachings about Australia, not least about Aboriginal people. This was not just Fischer’s experience at Xavier but similarly applied throughout Australian schools of the time.


At the 1963 matriculation exams Fischer obtained first-class honours in British History and General Mathematics, second-class honours in Economics and Social Studies and passes in English Expression and Musical Appreciation—a subject he had studied right through Xavier. His music teacher at Xavier, Jim Provan, did not see Tim as having musical flair, describing him as ‘a studious enthusiast’.


‘He was not a rough and tumble kid; he was always very, very pleasant to deal with, a very balanced boy, strongly self-contained,’ Provan said. He was sensitive, unusually so at that age, absolutely dependable and trustworthy. This is why he was chosen as a prefect. It was a strong personality without being aggressive or particularly upfront. His peers by the time he got into matric. realised his strength. He believed in himself. His views were pretty well founded.’


Fischer’s cultured side was developed by participation in Gilbert and Sullivan productions. In his first year at Xavier, he played the part of the grotesque elderly nurse Inez in The Gondoliers, which ran for five consecutive nightly performances. Jim Provan recalled that Fischer had exactly the right presence for the role, being tall and gaunt. ‘I thought he would look rather good as a strange old nurse coming on stage—which he did,’ Provan said. ‘It was a small part, but his voice was quite true. He was fairly much an average boy soprano voice.’ But there was a problem: Fischer’s voice was breaking. His older sister Carol recalled watching the performance when Tim’s voice broke on the last night. Father Thomas Montague reviewed the performance in the Xavierian magazine: ‘The part of Inez was most realistically done by Timothy Fischer. No one could doubt that he came straight from the torture chamber.’


But it was debating that really inspired Fischer. He joined Jim Griffin’s extra-curricular current affairs and debating group. ‘Once he started talking on the platform as a debater, he was hard to stop,’ Griffin said. He remembered Fischer’s debating style as ‘a sort of compulsive talking without engaging his audience’ or making eye contact with them. He delivered a text over the heads of people in a loud monotone delivery, giving Griffin the impression that he was driven by nervous energy. ‘He was quite alert but not very flexible. He had certain fixed ideas which he articulated and was always well prepared. He certainly didn’t say stupid things. He was rather determined to survive rather than being determined to persuade.’ In spite of this seeming awkwardness and an accursed speech impediment, Fischer won the school prize for debating in 1963.


Keeping a close eye on Fischer during this time, Griffin concluded somewhat dismissively that ‘he was the type of kid who had to learn things by rote. That probably would have trained his memory for the sort of things that he is interested in.’ Nonetheless, Fischer surprised Griffin with his first-class honours in British History. ‘I didn’t have an expectation that he would do that well. He certainly didn’t stick in my mind in any way as an outstanding student. It was his unusual character that really stuck in my mind. He was very much on his own with his own thoughts and recollections, always prepared to participate, to take his place, but very conscious of his own lack of skills. I’d be inclined to say this was one of the things that drove him to be such a good student.’


Only by his final year could Fischer say he had begun to really enjoy school. By this time, he had gained a level of confidence and faith in himself. Looking back, he was full of praise for his Jesuit teachers, describing their influence as character-building and encouraging his mind to curiosity and motivation. ‘The Jesuits provided a magnificent education in many ways,’ he said. ‘I think they are much more rounded than some of the other orders I have collided with over the years.’


The Jesuits’ methods, however, were stern. Fischer recalled the dread he experienced early at Xavier as each Friday language lesson approached: ‘The last lesson before lunch on a Friday was this bloody language lesson. You thought you had remembered it; you would study hard, you would cram. I still remember being caned for not being able to decline a verb properly from Latin and/or French. On the hands. Two cuts and quite painful too. If I could get through to Friday lunchtime I could look forward to a happy weekend.’


One of the teachers handy with the cane was Father Tom O’Donovan, the Prefect of Studies, who taught him English. Recalling the years, O’Donovan said Xavier was a happy school with a strong relationship between the teachers and the pupils. ‘I always felt there was great respect for teachers, but also a great ease in the relationship between us. They were at ease with us and we were at ease with them. It affected not only their schoolwork, but their games, on the river, music, operas and then also in our worship of God. The singing in the chapel used to be quite wonderful.’


O’Donovan subscribed to the philosophy that a good school should be a community of living, of learning and of loving. ‘I reckon that described it very well. We shared their lives very much. We taught them, but also there was a great affection for them, nothing soft about it, none of that sort of thing—on the contrary, the sad things you hear these days, don’t get that idea that there was any touch of that—but there was a great ease of relationship.’ Fischer was not a limelight seeker and, according to O’Donovan, was an unassuming boy. Tim impressed him as conscientious, but was not as brilliant as his brother Tony. He was ‘a deeply sensitive person, more sensitive than people might have thought in his earlier years’.


Through his work on the school magazine, Fischer had a developed deep interest in current affairs, had studied politics and had been through the fire of competitive debating. It was a Liberal Party election rally at Kew Town Hall in November 1963, addressed by Sir Robert Menzies, that cemented the interest. Having survived with just a one-seat majority for two years, Menzies called an early election. That night he asserted that Australia was ‘at the crossroads’. He painted Labor as against the US alliance and controlled by socialists whose ‘whole doctrine subordinates the individual to the State’. On the other hand, Menzies led a non-socialist government, ‘which values the great contribution which private enterprise makes to national growth’. If Labor won, ‘you will suffer the consequences for long after my time’. Mixed in with the standard anti-Labor national security rhetoric were nation-building policies. Fischer heard Menzies talk of water and dams, northern development, the cost of freight, petrol prices, roads and oil exploration. Then there were trade and exports and overseas investment in Australia. These were policy areas on which to build national progress, and they fired Fischer’s imagination.


That night he listened spellbound as Menzies spoke for more than an hour. ‘The master suggested a group of senior boarders go. We went and it gave me a taste. It was good,’ Fischer recalled. It was hot, and the mood in the packed hall was boisterous. Fischer witnessed scuffles involving university students, but it was the performance of Menzies that was indelibly etched into his mind. ‘The movement of the occasion and the spoken word in the hands of Menzies was pretty amazing stuff. It started the process, yes.’ Menzies retained government, and Fischer left Xavier for the last time to go home to Peppers, thinking he would give farming a couple of years before making a final decision about going to university. But farming seemed like his destiny.


Menzies would soon take the decision out of his hands, but if Fischer’s analysis at age 17 of the ALP–DLP split had eventuated, his life might have taken a different course. Labor, under Arthur Calwell, would have won the 1961 credit squeeze election if the DLP had not directed preferences to the Coalition. Indeed, even in 1963, when Menzies was returned with an increased twenty-two-seat majority, it could be argued that Labor with 45.5 per cent of the vote could well have won if it had received the majority of the DLP’s 7.4 per cent. Calwell was vehemently opposed to conscription, which means there would have been no Cabinet decision to commit national servicemen to Vietnam. The next chapter of Fischer’s life would have been a different story.
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HERE MEN ARE MADE


FISCHER’S LIFE APPEARED predictable after he returned to Peppers from Xavier College at the end of 1963. Life consisted of work on the farm, games of tennis in the local Boree Creek competition and a bit of football with the Boree Creek seconds. There were local dances and parties, but the teenaged Tim was restless as he faced up to the rest of his life on the farm. He had easily matriculated at Xavier and won a Commonwealth scholarship to university, but his parents needed him on the property, so he did not take it up. Nonetheless, becoming a full-time farmer held little attraction.


With the brashness of youth, fellow Baby Boomers were confronting Australian society, challenging its values and demanding change. Rawboned, tall and shambling, Fischer had grown into a big country lad. He was keen to expand his horizons, but unlike many of his generation he was no child of the Age of Aquarius and was not part of the push for a new society. Indeed, rural Australia remained suspicious of change and was happy to embrace the political values that had led to wealth and prosperity on the land. Despite his willingness to argue Labor’s case in the fight with the DLP, along with the strong residue of agrarian socialism throughout the bush, there was no chance he would take up its cause in the Riverina’s conservative social environment, where the Country and the Liberal parties dominated the political landscape. Although neither was a member of the Country Party at this stage, Ralph and Barbara Fischer were both conservative in their politics and, not surprisingly, disagreed with the policies of Labor leader Arthur Calwell.


In April 1965 Fischer became involved with party politics when he and younger sister Vicki joined the Narrandera branch of the Young Country Party of Australia, open to anyone under the age of 30, as inaugural members. Local farmer Rick Bull was the driving force behind the establishment of the branch. Bull, later to become a member of the New South Wales Legislative Council, had known the Fischers casually over the years, catching up with them at Christmas parties. ‘They were just natural members,’ he remembered. Despite his brief flirtation with pro-Labor politics in Sursum Corda, Fischer was never likely to join any other party once he left school, as much because of the social environment as anything else. ‘I was more of a conservative orientation’ as were farmers in the district. He too was a natural member. ‘I could see that it suited my beliefs.’


There were up to thirty Young Country Party members who met monthly at Duncan’s Hotel, Narrandera, running inter-branch debates against the Griffith and other branches, holding barbecues and organising woolshed dances. Bull described Fischer as their best debater. ‘He was enthusiastic, basically a mini version of what he became; not your normal country bloke who liked a few beers and cricket on Saturday afternoon. He was a little bit more focused than that.’


The highlight of the branch’s activities came a year after its foundation with a debate between the senior federal Labor figure and anti-Vietnam War crusader, Dr Jim Cairns, and two Young Country Party representatives. It was May 1966, and Fischer had just turned 20. The debate topic: ‘The advisability of having Australian troops in Vietnam’. It was held in Wagga Wagga and drew an audience of about 500 people. Fischer was not involved in the debate, which saw Cairns oppose party state vice-president Phillip Harding, from Tamworth, and Adrian Cruikshank, from Griffith, both of whom backed Australia’s involvement. Cruikshank was later to become a National Party state MP.


‘Our fellows did very, very well,’ Bull remembered. ‘Being young upstarts, we put a lot more into our debate than Jim, who was fairly laid back.’ Fischer would later comment that, despite the heated debate and the strong reaction from the audience, ‘Dr Cairns emerged as a man of utmost sincerity with a total dedication to the ideals he believed in’. This tendency to acknowledge the other side of an argument and pay credit to his opponents manifested early, becoming more evident as Fischer’s career progressed.


But away from Wagga Wagga events were moving. In November 1964 Prime Minister Menzies announced the introduction of compulsory selective national service for the army. For the first time, conscripts as well as permanent soldiers would be obliged to serve overseas. The decision came at a time when communists were gaining the upper hand in the civil war in South Vietnam. Australia’s involvement in the war had begun two years earlier with a small commitment of thirty military advisers and was now set to expand. All 20-year-old men were required to register with the Department of Labour and National Service, and marbles marking their birth dates would be drawn singly from a barrel, usually in March and September. Those conscripted would undertake two years service followed by three years on reserve duty, with the possibility of serving overseas. In April 1965 the government upgraded Australia’s military commitment to South Vietnam’s security. Already, the number of conscripts for 1965 had been set at 4200 in two intakes, rising to 8400 a year in four intakes in 1966.


Fischer registered for the first ballot in 1966. His birth date of 3 May 1946 came out of the barrel. He was called up as part of the sixth intake of national servicemen. The news came through while he was in the Northern Territory, part way through a camping trip around Australia with his close friend, Lockhart farmer Max Day. ‘It was on the steps of the Darwin General Post Office in mid-1966 that I received my call-up notice for two years national service. I was determined not to seek any exemptions that were available to those farming. I decided to comply fully and serve.’ According to Max Day, his mate took the news well. ‘He accepted it straight up. I missed out and came home to the farm.’


However, Ralph and Barbara Fischer did not receive the news well. Barbara especially was strongly against her son joining up and argued that he should take the option of an exemption scheme that the Country Party had advocated for rural youth. In May 1966 the government decided to set up special units of the Citizen Military Forces (CMF), where rural youth could do their service in concentrated periods at Holsworthy Barracks. Fischer recalled: ‘When I was called up, there was the opportunity to do so many weeks a year as a bush alternative. But I thought you either do something properly or not at all. I recognised the opportunity to gain something which I would not have otherwise gained by staying on the farm.’


The family even discussed the possibility of Tim going to university as a means of keeping him at home. But he said no. He had been called up and that was that—he felt it was his duty. He received his call-up papers in June 1966 and began his army training at nearby Kapooka Army Base in July. ‘I marched into the Docker Street Hall in Wagga to be processed and then got on a bus for Kapooka where all the yelling started.’ Shouting was the army’s way of making sure raw recruits knew they were no longer part of comfortable civilian life but joining the front line of the defence of the nation.


Former national serviceman Gordon Alexander was part of the same call-up intake as Fischer and described the occasion: ‘The very first time I struck Tim was our first day in the army. I had arrived at Kapooka by the traditional bus in the middle of the night from Sydney—Tim came from I know not where. I saw him in the large mess where they gave us a feed. One has to remember that we were conscripted; we had no idea and no great wish to be there; and they yelled at us a lot. You’ve never seen such a disoriented, scared lot in all your life.’


As if to compound the initial bleakness of the occasion, it snowed at Kapooka the next day. Alexander recalled that among the things thrown at the intake of nashos in those first few days was the idea of officer training. ‘They showed us a nice film, told us of extra benefits and lured us with the prospect of an easy way to get a bit of status—it all sounded a lot better than where we were right then.’ Fischer, too, was attracted to the idea of officer training, thinking that if he was going to be in the army for two years he might as well be an officer and get something out of his time there. Both applied for officer training.


The next step was the selection process, which began with a series of interviews in front of a selection board—some of them as a small group of around eight. Alexander recalled: ‘Tim looked a bit of a hayseed. Part of the board process was discussions among ourselves about our careers, our education, politics, literature, anything really, so the board members could get some idea of what we were like. We knew that the whole idea was to see how “intelligent” we were. I babbled on about a book I was reading, Michener’s The Source, a play I had briefly leafed through, Miller’s Death of a Salesman and a Shakespeare I had sort of studied at school. The truth is, I was desperately scrambling to show that I was smart. Somehow, I managed to get away with it and passed that part of the process.’


Besides Alexander, only two others—Geoff Henwood and Fischer—got through. Alexander noted: ‘Geoff and I were city slickers. The fact is that while Geoff and I were raving on, trying to dominate proceedings, Tim, who looked a bit goofy, talked about politics and seemed to know what he was saying. The board members obviously thought so. He went straight through to the medical while I had to go through a whole battery of psych tests.’


The successful applicants underwent a detailed assessment of their leadership potential. The three-man selection board, which included an army psychologist, graded candidates according to profile. Fischer’s results made them take notice. One board member noted that he was a ‘tall lean farm boy, thoughtful and articulate, very earnest and sincere, purposeful and responsible. A stable and mature young man with a well-balanced outlook, who performed very well both indoors and outdoors in the board situation. Should make a sound officer.’


The second assessor commented that he was ‘a capable, conscientious, well-motivated country boy. Expresses himself well and is well adjusted in every way. Has had responsibility. Will worry.’ A sign, perhaps, that rather than acting in haste, Fischer would think things through. The third member observed that Fischer was a ‘tough lean type, confident, convincing, sincere’. He noted that Tim had ‘submerged [his] own interests to the needs of the family’ by working on the farm after matriculating rather than going to university. The assessor concluded that Fischer ‘thinks and acts logically’, was a ‘good leader [who] influences others to his plans’. His Officer Intelligence Rating was consistent with his performance. According to the scale, he was among the top 13 per cent of Australia’s general population.


No ‘A’ rating was included in the system because of the infrequency with which such a grading could ever be made. The highest rating was ‘B’, which was given to someone who was ‘likely to make a very satisfactory officer’. Fischer’s official military file reveals that the board president rated him a ‘B minus’. His fellow board members’ ratings were ‘C plus’ and ‘C’, resulting in a final board grading of ‘C plus’, one of the highest possible. The unofficial ‘buddy rating’ from his fellow candidates was less glowing. When the results of the comments by each candidate on the other candidates were assessed, he was rated fifth among them on leadership and seventh with regard to friendship.


Fischer was immediately given the chance to attend the Officer Training Unit (OTU) at Scheyville, 60 kilometres north-west of Sydney near Windsor. He and the other successful candidates were flown in a charter aircraft from RAAF Base Wagga to RAAF Base Richmond—the first time he had been in a four-engined aircraft—and then transferred to the Scheyville bus. ‘I will never forget my first sixty seconds at Scheyville when the bus pulled up on the parade ground. I had taken just four steps from the bus when the RSM [Regimental Sergeant Major] from 100 metres away yelled out, “Officer Cadet Fischer, pick up that kit bag, move it along, get over here right now.” The RSM had us on the run for about a week to see if he could break us.’


Such was the need to begin training immediately that the RSM had memorised the faces of the new recruits from photographs before they had even arrived at the camp. There was no time for pleasantries; the modus operandi was to grab the attention of the new intake within the first few seconds of their arrival. The strident, bellowing voice of RSM Larry Moon achieved that aim perfectly. And the yelling did not stop there.


Scheyville, set in rolling hills among dairy and poultry farms, consisted of several long, grey-painted wooden huts built at the end of the nineteenth century as a hostel for an unemployment relief scheme. During World War I, it was used as an internment camp for German aliens. Later, it was used as a hostel for newly arrived immigrants. Each officer cadet had a separate room and shared shower and toilet facilities. Rooms were sparse and utilitarian. The cadets were allowed just one concession: a radio, which they could turn on only at certain times. They were paid $42.49 a week. They were spared guard and kitchen fatigue. They did have their own mess and, as officer cadets, were even served by stewards.


Scheyville’s official motto was ‘Here men are made’, but colloquially among officer cadets the motto was blunter: ‘Nil bastardum carborundum’—effectively, ‘Don’t let the bastards wear you down’. For these young men, OTU meant growing up fast, transforming into leaders in the short term and in the community long after leaving national service. It was an experience none would ever forget.
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SHORT BACK AND SIDES


SCHEYVILLE HAD ONE immediate, overriding aim: to produce an officer fit to command a platoon for combat overseas. Leaders were to be trained in half the time of the Officer Cadet School at Portsea in Victoria and an eighth of the time of the four-year officer training course at the Royal Military College, Duntroon, Canberra. The army was short of officers, and OTU was designed to rapidly solve the shortage to meet the huge rise in demand caused by the deployment of troops to Vietnam.


OTU’s Commandant at the time, Brigadier Ian Geddes, saw the task of producing an effective operational platoon commander from a motley group of completely untrained men in twenty-one weeks as unique in the Australian military experience. Therefore all instruction was subjected repeatedly to detailed scrutiny to ensure that it was essential. The compressed time span meant that traditional elements of officer training, such as military history on the one hand and the finer points of etiquette on the other, were forgone.


At any one time there was a senior class and a junior class of officer cadets, who entered three months later. The staff included seventy-five officers and non-commissioned officer instructors, most of whom had fought in World War II, Korea, Malaya, Borneo or Vietnam. According to Geddes, the rapid transition for most cadets from relatively slow-moving civilian life to an intense military environment imposed great strain both mentally and physically. ‘The intensity of the course accounted primarily for around thirty per cent of all cadets selected failing to graduate. Significantly, however, of that thirty per cent, the number who requested removal was very small indeed.’


Major General Adrian Clunies-Ross helped set up Scheyville and was responsible for field and tactics training. He was there when Officer Cadet Fischer arrived. ‘These people came off the street, people who had no intention of joining the army, and suddenly they found themselves in the middle of this very intensive course. Because some of them were going into operational units and could quite easily go to Vietnam within a few months of graduation, we had to be absolutely certain that they had the right qualities,’ he told the author.


Fischer recalled: ‘It was go-go-go. It was designed to put you under immense pressure and toughen you up. Sometimes it was designed to really stir you up, to see if you would hit back, crack and not receive the orders.’ Neatness and cleanliness were demanded, right down to dust in a cadet’s room. ‘People with white gloves running their fingers along the top of the wardrobe, a lightbulb. Rifle and bayonet had to be meticulously clean. Barely enough time to do it. You had to become really efficient,’ Fischer remembered.


He embraced the challenge, knowing that cadets could be failed even after finishing the final exercise. There would be an announcement over the loudspeaker, ordering the named cadets to fall out and report to a particular location. They were not seen again. By the time they marched out of Scheyville nearly six months later, graduate cadets had undergone up to 400 or more assessments. The cadets were assessed in everything they did, day and night, from the way they answered questions sitting in a classroom to their performance in the field. If they did not have the right stuff at the beginning of the course, they certainly did by the end. Indeed, it has been estimated that after 1966 at least 50 per cent of all platoon commanders in the army were national servicemen.


Every waking hour they were under the microscope. And the days were long—often sixteen hours a day, six days a week. Instructors had a report card listing various qualities on which the cadets were rated. These included leadership, the way cadets summed up a particular situation, the way they took responsibility and how they fitted in. Clunies-Ross recalled: ‘We used to have to fill these damn cards out every time we saw a fellow displaying a particular quality.’ Each cadet’s report card was checked daily, and the weekly results were statistically analysed by computers at Defence headquarters in Canberra.


An army captain was given responsibility for the overall development of about twelve cadets. He was their mentor, telling them where they were going wrong and how they could improve. The emphasis was on teamwork from the start, and the message hammered home by the instructors was that no one would graduate if they remained a loner. They had to all pull together and help their mates. Officer Cadet Fischer’s inclination to rely on himself was immediately challenged. His mentor, Lieutenant Colonel Ron Behan, recalled that he was neither an outstanding nor a bad performer. The pressure was on to be part of the group as well as to fit everything in. There was little time to help those who were struggling.


Besides the physical challenges, considerable emphasis was placed on communication skills. Fischer’s school experience had had the effect of producing a quiet and independent young man, not needing mates to get by. Scheyville turned this trait on its head. Cadets were put under constant pressure to see whether they could handle stress. Officers pushed the cadets past a point of perceived endurance and then pushed again. ‘You were put into a high-speed machine and ejected out the other end as either a second lieutenant or a private,’ Behan said.


Those who survived OTU endured continuing hardship, with their mental and physical toughness constantly stretched. Officer cadets had two minutes to shower, shave and start getting dressed. Drill sergeants abused and punished cadets if their appearance was less than perfect, such as having dust on their boots. Privately, the instructors knew they were pushing them beyond the limit. One of Scheyville’s instructors, then Colonel Peter Langford, recalled: ‘These guys were up at 6 a.m. and on the square and by the time they got to bed at 10 p.m. they were stuffed. Before then they were supposed to have studied to reinforce what they learned during the day. It wasn’t so intellectual, rather, it was the sheer volume of material that was totally foreign to them. They knew that they had to learn, we knew what we had to give them and we only had a short time to do it.’


Scheyville graduate Gary McKay would later write that most of the pressure on the course was generated by the fear cadets held that if they were not on time or failed to complete a task, they would incur an additional training parade, known as an ‘extra’:




There was a ten-minute break between each lecture and during this time you sometimes had to change from dress of the day to physical training dress. Until we became quick change experts most of us would leave our rooms looking like a bomb had gone off and take the chance that the drillies (drill sergeants) had already done their inspection. It was better to take the chance rather than be late for the next class, because invariably the drillies would award extras to the slowcoaches. Each day, one of the cadets was appointed duty student for his class and it was his responsibility to get them to the next class on time. Of course, if the class was late he got an extra. This made for instant cooperation between the members of the class: the quickest way to lose friends was to get someone an extra.





Reveille was at 6 a.m., but defaulter drills would see cadets up at 5 a.m. and on the parade ground thirty minutes later. ‘It was an alien, aggressive atmosphere,’ was the assessment of one of Tim’s course classmates, David Brown. ‘The only thing on everybody’s mind was self-survival. We all made mistakes and ended up with extra drills.’ For the first thirty days cadets were given no weekend leave to get a brief respite from the pressure. In the second month, field training cut into weekends. Finally, after two months inside Scheyville, cadets got the chance for weekend leave, from 4.30 p.m. Saturday until 10.30 p.m. on Sunday. Failure to return on time brought an absent-without-leave charge and no leave for the next fortnight.


Once given their freedom, cadets did not easily blend into the wider community. In the Swinging Sixties era of long hair and flowing, psychedelic fashions they stood out with their regulation short back and sides and their ‘square’ leave dress of grey flannel trousers, white shirt, narrow Scheyville tie and a dark blue blazer. According to McKay, they looked like Mormons on a recruiting drive.


Units containing national servicemen including OTU graduates were deployed to Vietnam in 1966. Almost from the start of courses at OTU it was clear to the officer cadets and their instructors that training was for a ‘real’ situation. Geddes was certain that this awareness raised the tempo and standard of training. Cadets were left in no doubt about the seriousness of what they were doing, as they knew they were probably going to Vietnam. According to Langford, the message from instructors was simply, ‘If you don’t learn this, you or your men may die’.


The lesson was not lost on Fischer. He remembered the training as intense and ‘designed to break you, so they sorted out in the first four weeks those who were going to crack, those who started hitting back at the RSM or not handling the situation. They wouldn’t waste any more time on them. At the end of the first four weeks, they had a clean-out. The rest they put under considerable ongoing pressure, but it was not as bad as the first four weeks.’


It was, in fact, an environment in which Fischer thrived. He acknowledged that the army accurately summed him up as ‘essentially a farmer’ and that he would ‘have to move heaven and earth to obtain momentum to graduate in six months’. With his father’s dictum that if a job was worth doing, it was worth doing well ringing in his ears, Fischer was determined to get through. ‘I was doing quite well on the academic studies; I loved the map reading but the parade ground was always a challenge.’ Kevin Drummond, who was in the same intake as Fischer, recalled that at first Tim seemed to have two left feet and was square-gaited. More than a few candidates initially predicted that he would not last the distance. To Gordon Alexander, Fischer walked like a farmer: ‘He lifted his feet too high, like he was walking through wet grass.’


Another officer cadet from the intake, Gary Klintworth, remembered Fischer as ‘the archetypal country lad’ who was ‘uncomplicated, not particularly articulate, rather bumbling, shy and gawky’. He did not say much, always seemed to be embarrassed, often blushing. But Klintworth also noticed he had ‘a quiet inner strength’ that enabled him to survive. He struck Klintworth as a loner who was self-conscious about being a rough country kid.


‘He didn’t have the slicked-back, porcine habits of smart street kids from the city. That was why he was a loner. He was not comfortable in company; he only got that later when he started to develop self-confidence. One of the first building blocks in finding that confidence was surviving Scheyville, surviving a place that was designed to test you as a man. You couldn’t be a loner if you were a platoon commander. You had to interact with the thirty people under your command.’

OEBPS/images/title.jpg
-1
o~ [ 1ian

LIFE, POLITICS AND BEYOND

PETER REES

g MELBOURNE
UNIVERSITY
PRESS





OEBPS/images/copy2.jpg
TS=%. book s available from the
KARY National Library of Australia

1B





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
TR
O [ Lin~

LIFE, POLITICS AND BEYOND

‘A fascinating and revealing insight
into the life of Tim Fischer!
CATHY McGOW:
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